

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

## Journal of Chromatography B



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/chromb

### Review

# Simultaneous analysis of multiple aminothiols in human plasma by high performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection $^{\ddagger}$

## M. Elizabeth McMenamin<sup>a</sup>, Jonathan Himmelfarb<sup>b</sup>, Thomas D. Nolin<sup>c,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Center for Clinical and Translation Research, Maine Medical Center Research Institute, Scarborough, ME 04074, USA

<sup>b</sup> Kidney Research Institute and Division of Nephrology, Department of Medicine, University of Washington, Seattle, WA 98195, USA

<sup>c</sup> Department of Pharmacy and Therapeutics and Center for Clinical Pharmaceutical Research, University of Pittsburgh School of Pharmacy, 808 Salk Hall, 3501 Terrace Street, Pittsburgh, PA 15261, USA

#### ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 2 February 2009 Accepted 21 May 2009 Available online 29 May 2009

Keywords: HPLC Aminothiols Homocysteine Cysteinylglycine Glutathione Oxidative stress

#### ABSTRACT

Aminothiols serve numerous vital functions in biochemistry, including detoxification and regulation of cellular metabolism, enzymatic activity, and protein trafficking and degradation. Plasma aminothiol concentrations are frequently measured for clinical and translational research investigating oxidative stress, and for routine clinical diagnosis and monitoring of vascular injury. Although a variety of techniques are available to measure aminothiol concentrations in plasma, high performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detection (HPLC–FD) is the most widely used. This review summarizes HPLC–FD methods, including pre-analytical considerations, procedures for sample reduction, derivatization, and chromatographic separation of the primary biological aminothiols cysteine, homocysteine, cysteinylglycine, and glutathione in human plasma.

© 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	3274
2.	Pre-analytical considerations	3276
	2.1. Total aminothiols and aminothiol redox species	3276
	2.2. Sample collection and handling	3276
	2.3. Sample stability	3277
	2.4. Plasma or serum and choice of anticoagulant	3277
3.	HPLC analysis	3277
	3.1. Reduction	3277
	3.2. Derivatization reagents	3278
	3.3. Internal standard	3279
	3.4. Chromatography.	
4	Method evaluation	3280
5	Concluding remarks	3280
υ.	References	3280
	References	5200

#### 1. Introduction

Aminothiols are low molecular weight thiol-containing amino acids that play important roles in cell signaling, metabolism and detoxification. Several studies have demonstrated that aminothiols are involved in the pathogenesis of human diseases [1,2]. In particular, the association between thiol concentrations, oxidative stress and cardiovascular disease has received much attention [2–5]. As a result, measurement of plasma aminothiol concentrations has emerged as a useful tool for diagnosing and monitoring the presence of human diseases and metabolic disorders including oxidative stress [5–15]. This has generated a need for simple, sensitive, precise, and fully validated analytical methods capable of determining aminothiols for research purposes and for routine

<sup>\*</sup> This paper is part of the special issue "Analysis of Thiols", I. Dalle-Donne and R. Rossi (Guest Editors).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +1 412 624 4683; fax: +1 412 624 1850. *E-mail address:* nolin@pitt.edu (T.D. Nolin).

<sup>1570-0232/\$ –</sup> see front matter S 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2009.05.046

clinical use. Assays capable of determining multiple analytes are desirable because of extensive interconversion of aminothiols and the need to understand the dynamic relationship between all thiol and disulfide components [16,17], as well as to facilitate assessment of the relationship between thiols and disease status.

A variety of methods are available for determining concentrations of two or more aminothiols, including capillary electrophoresis [18,19], gas or liquid chromatography with mass spectrometric detection [20-22], and HPLC with ultraviolet [23–25], fluorescence [15,26–40], or electrochemical detection [41-44]. Each of these methods has basic limitations in terms of performance, equipment cost, complexity, sample processing and run times, and/or validation parameters assessed, which create challenges or render them impractical for high-throughput routine clinical or research purposes. For instance, methods based on mass spectrometric detection provide highly specific and sensitive quantification of compounds of interest often with less sample manipulation compared to other chromatographic methods. Unfortunately, mass spectrometric detection is cumbersome, and requires expensive instrumentation that may be out of reach for many laboratories [45-47]. Ultraviolet detection suffers from poor sensitivity and specificity [45]. Electrochemical detection represents an important tool for the analysis of redox-reactive compounds such as thiols and disulfides, but it exhibits high oxidation potential that can reduce its performance and possibly contributes to the poorer precision reported than for ultraviolet or fluorimetric detection methods [45,46].

HPLC with fluorescence detection (HPLC–FD) is the most commonly used method for determination of aminothiols due to its high sensitivity, relative simplicity, ease of automation, and highthroughput capability [45,46]. Sample preparation usually involves disulfide reduction, protein precipitation, and derivatization prior to chromatographic separation. HPLC–FD allows the simultaneous determination of the primary biological aminothiols cysteine (CYS), homocysteine (Hcys), cysteinylglycine (CysGly), and glutathione (GSH) (Fig. 1). Simultaneous measurement of multiple aminoth-

#### (A) $HO \xrightarrow{H}_{NH_2} SH$ (B) $HO \xrightarrow{H}_{NH_2} SH$ (C) $HO \xrightarrow{H}_{NH_2} SH$ (D) $HO \xrightarrow{H}_{NH_2} SH$ (D) $HO \xrightarrow{H}_{NH_2} SH$ (D) $HO \xrightarrow{H}_{NH_2} SH$ (D) $HO \xrightarrow{H}_{NH_2} SH$ (C) $HO \xrightarrow{H}_{NH_2}$

Fig. 1. Structures of (A) Hcys, (B) CYS, (C) CysGly, and (D) GSH.

iols is desirable since many of them are metabolically related. For example, it is well established that homocysteine and cysteine are key components of the transsulfuration pathway; cysteine is a precursor of glutathione; and cysteinylglycine is a breakdown product of glutathione. Generally speaking, excellent linearity is observed over a long range, extending well above and below the concentrations found in health and disease conditions [31,35]. Reagent costs are comparatively low and the equipment required is available in most research laboratories. Aminothiol concentrations previously reported in healthy subjects and other patient populations using selected HPLC–FD methods are presented in Table 1.

#### Table 1

Aminothiol concentrations reported in healthy subjects and other patient populations.

Author	Population	Concentra	tion <sup>a, b</sup> (µM)			
		N	Cys	Hcys	GSH	CysGly
Ivanov et al. [39]	H, M	17	219.3 ± 31.1	11.7 ± 3.7	$7.1\pm2.6$	NR
	H, F	16	$215.3 \pm 34.6$	$9.8\pm2.9$	$6.6\pm2.5$	NR
Pastore et al. [34]	H, M	20	$212 \pm 23$	$9.2\pm2.0$	$12.8\pm4.6$	$65.7\pm4.6$
	H, F	24	$206 \pm 14$	$6.7\pm0.5$	$12.8\pm3.6$	$53.2\pm7.7$
Williams et al. [35]	Н	20	$120.5 \pm 9.8^{\circ}$	$6.5\pm0.3^{\circ}$	$5.7\pm0.3^{\circ}$	$25.8 \pm 1.4^{c}$
	S	20	$164.2 \pm 15.2^{c}$	$9.9\pm0.6^{c}$	$4.6\pm0.2^{c}$	$21.8\pm1.2^{c}$
Jacobsen et al. [33]	H, M	36	$209.6\pm28.4$	9.3 ± 1.9	NR	$30.8\pm4.5$
	H, F	35	$190.7\pm27.5$	$7.9\pm2.3$	NR	$26.5\pm3.7$
Mansoor et al. [32]	H, M	8	$264.3\pm33.3$	11.9 ± 1.5	$7.6\pm1.3$	$31.8\pm5.4$
	H, F	10	$236.0\pm26.2$	$10.9\pm2.1$	$\textbf{6.2}\pm\textbf{1.4}$	$27.6\pm3.4$
Rizzo et al. [58]	Н	36	118.6 ± 31.2	$7.5\pm2.8$	NR	$17.8\pm7.4$
Pfeiffer et al. [37]	H, M	27	$298\pm29$	$9.1 \pm 1.8$	NR	NR
	H, F	43	$280 \pm 32$	7.8 ± 1.7	NR	NR
Durand et al. [38]	H, M	15	$210.1 \pm 27.3$	$9.2 \pm 1.8$	$4.5\pm0.9$	$30.3\pm7.3$
	H, F	15	$191.5 \pm 30.3$	$7.3 \pm 1.6$	$4.3\pm1.7$	$24.7\pm3.8$
Sjoberg et al. [15]	Н	15	$270 \pm 40$	$11 \pm 3$	$4.1 \pm 1.4$	$26\pm7$
	CKD	47	$329\pm62$	$20\pm7$	$4.9\pm3.4$	$29\pm10$
Carducci et al. [27]	Н	46	$168\pm28$	7.7 ± 1.9	NR	NR
Tcherkas et al. [28]	Н	19	$260 \pm 11$	$8.3\pm0.5$	NR	NR
	CVD	34	$255\pm12$	$11.7\pm1.1$	NR	NR

<sup>a</sup> Concentrations µM unless otherwise specified.

 $^{\rm b}\,$  Concentration data presented as mean  $\pm\,$  SD unless otherwise specified.

<sup>c</sup> Mean  $\pm$  SE.

N, number of subjects; H, healthy subjects; M, males only; F, females only; S, stroke patients; CKD, chronic kidney disease patients; CVD, cardiovascular disease patients; NR, not reported.

This review summarizes HPLC–FD methods, including preanalytical considerations, procedures for sample reduction, derivatization, and simultaneous chromatographic separation of multiple aminothiols (e.g., cysteine, homocysteine, cysteinylglycine, and glutathione) in human plasma.

#### 2. Pre-analytical considerations

#### 2.1. Total aminothiols and aminothiol redox species

Thiol groups (-SH) are critical intracellular and extracellular redox buffers which readily undergo oxidative coupling reactions to form disulfides (-S-S-). Aminothiols are present in vivo in their reduced form and a variety of disulfide derivatives. Disulfide moieties may be bound to protein, or non-protein bound as homocystine or cystine or as mixed disulfides (e.g., CYS-Hcys)[48]. All redox forms are measured together in assays that determine total aminothiol concentrations. However, an increase or decrease in the total concentration of an aminothiol does not necessarily indicate a proportional change in concentration for each redox form [15]. Also, the activity of one redox form may contribute more to the pathogenesis of a disease. For example, reduced Hcys is more likely to be atherogenic than oxidized or protein-bound Hcys [49]. Therefore, it may be informative to examine the individual redox forms of aminothiols. Altered redox status of aminothiols has been observed in a number of diseases including vascular and renal disease [7,14,15,50].

Accurately measuring individual redox components for an aminothiol is technically challenging because interconversion between redox forms (e.g., cysteine oxidized to cystine) continues ex vivo. Reduced aminothiols are oxidized within minutes if whole blood or plasma is left at room temperature [51]. Methods require complex sample processing immediately following blood collection and prior to storage. Moreover, reduced aminothiols will be oxidized during storage at  $-70 \degree C$  [15]. Acidic sodium citrate has been used as an anticoagulant to stabilize the reduced form of aminothiols for two weeks [35]. The mechanism for this is unknown, but it has been hypothesized that the acidic environment stabilizes the sulfhydryl group [35]. Most methods require derivatization and analysis of the reduced form immediately or within 24 h of sample collection [15,32,51]. Currently, measurement of reduced and oxidized forms of aminothiols is best suited for smaller studies due to the complex, time intensive nature of sample processing. For clinical studies with large numbers of subjects, it is far more practical to measure total aminothiol concentrations. The thiol forms (e.g., total, reduced) measured by selected HPLC-FD methods are presented in Table 2.

#### 2.2. Sample collection and handling

Blood collection and processing prior to sample storage is a critical step in the accurate determination of aminothiol concentrations. Inadequate or inconsistent processing may lead to artificially high or low concentrations of aminothiols.

Sampling conditions for homocysteine measurement have been well investigated and reviewed previously [52–56]. Several seemingly benign variables, such as a subject's food intake and posture during sample collection, have been shown to influence homocysteine concentrations [54–56]. Other more obvious variables are also a concern. For example, due to the high concentrations of glutathione found in erythrocytes (~1 mM), even slight hemolysis may result in elevated concentrations of plasma glutathione. Recommendations based on this information support the establishment of standardized protocols [56]. All aspects of sample collection should be uniform because minor but sys-

Thiols measured	Thiol form measured	Anti-coagulant	Sample volume (µL)	Reducing agent	Prot precip	Derivatizing agent	Thiol standard form	Calibrator matrix	IS (conc)
Cys, Hcys, GSH	Total	Sodium citrate	62	TPP	SSA	mBrB	Disulfide (Hcys, GSH)	Plasma	None
Cys, Hcys, CysGly	Total; free	EDTA	30	NaBH <sub>4</sub>	SSA	mBrB	Disulfide (Cys, Hcys)	0.1 M HCI	None
Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly	Total	EDTA	10	NaBH <sub>4</sub>	HCI	mBrB	Disulfide (Cys, Hcys)	0.1 M HCI	None
Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly	Total; free; reduced	Sodium citrate	30	NaBH <sub>4</sub>	SSA	mBrB	Reduced	0.1 M HCI	None
Cys, Hcys, CysGly	Total	EDTA	100	NaBH <sub>4</sub>	PCA	mBrB	Disulfide (Hcys only)	Serum	None
Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly	Total; free; PB; reduced	Heparin	30	NaBH <sub>4</sub>	SSA	mBrB	Reduced	5% SSA + 50 μM DTE	None
Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly	Total	EDTA	100	TCEP .	ICA	SBD-F	Reduced	Plasma; PBS	MPG (12.3 µM)
Cys, Hcys, CysGly	Total	EDTA	200	. LII	ICA	SBD-F	Reduced	0.12 M PCA	NAC (612 μM)
Cys, Hcys	Total	EDTA	50	TCEP .	ICA	SBD-F	Disulfide (Hcys only)	Plasma; PBS	cysteamine (10 µM)
Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly	Total	EDTA	240	TBP	PCA	SBD-F	Reduced	Plasma	NAC (500 µM)
Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly	Total; free; reduced	EDTA	100	TBP .	ICA	SBD-F	NR	NR	None
Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly	Total	EDTA	50	TCEP .	ICA	SBD-F	Reduced	PBS	MPG (25 μM)
Cys, Hcys	Total; free	Heparin	50	2-ME	UF	OPA	Disulfide	H <sub>2</sub> 0	None
Cys, Hcys	Total	EDTA	100	2-ME	Methanol	OPA	Reduced	0.05 M PCA	None
Scipitation reagent; IS, into	ernal standard; Cys, cyste	ine; Hcys, homoc dithiothraitol· TI	cysteine; CysGly, cyste RD trihutvlahosahine:	inylglycine; GSH, §	glutathione;	PB, protein-bound;	EDTA, ethylenediamine	tetraacetic acid; TPP,	triphenylphosphine;
	Thiols measured Cys. Hcys. CSH Cys. Hcys. CSGIy Cys. Hcys. CSH, CysGly Cys. Hcys Cys. Hcys Cys Hcys Cys Cys Cys Cys Cys Cys Cys Cys Cys C	Thiols measured Thiol form measured Cys, Hcys, GSH Total Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly Total; free Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly Total; free; reduced Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly Total; free; PB: reduced Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly Total Cys, Hcys, CysGly Total Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly Total Cys, Hcys, CSH, CysGly Total CysGl, CysGly Total CysGl, CysGly Total CysGl, CysGly CysGl, CysGly C	Thiols measuredThiol form measuredAnti-coagulantCys, Hcys, GSHTotalFreeEDTACys, Hcys, CysGlyTotalFreeEDTACys, Hcys, GSH, CysGlyTotalFreeEDTACys, Hcys, GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTAEDTACys, HcysGSH, CysGlyTotalEDTACys, HcysGSH, CysGlyTotalEDTACys, HcysGSH, CysGlyTotalEDTACys, HcysGSH, CysGlyTotalEDTACys, HcysGSH, CysGlyTotalEDTACys, HcysGSH, CysGlyTotalEDTACys, HcysCys, HcysCys, HcysCys, HcysCys, HcysCys, HcysTotalEDTACys, HcysCysGlyTotalCysGlyCys, HcysCysGlyTotalEDTACys, HcysCysG	Thiols measuredThiol form measuredAnti-coagulantSample volume (µL)Cys. Hcys. GSHTotalSodium citrate62Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA30Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA10Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA10Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA10Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA100Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA200Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA240Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA240Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA50Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA240Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA50Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal	Thiols measured      Thiol form measured      Anti-coagulant      Sample volume (µL)      Reducing agent        Cys, Hcys, GSH      Total      Total      Sodium citrate      62      TPP        Cys, Hcys, GSH      Total      EDTA      10      NaBH4      9        Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly      Total: free      EDTA      10      NaBH4      9        Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly      Total: free      EDTA      100      NaBH4      9        Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly      Total: free      EDTA      100      NaBH4      9        Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly      Total: free: reduced      Sodium citrate      30      NaBH4      9        Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly      Total      EDTA      100      NaBH4      9        Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly      Total      EDTA      100      NaBH4      9        Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly      Total      EDTA      200      DTT      100      7        Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly      Total      EDTA      200      TCEP      7      5      7        Cys, Hcys, GSH, CysGly      Total      EDTA	Thiols measuredThiol form measuredAnti-coagulantSample volume (µL)Reducing agentProt precipCys. Hcys. GSHTotalSodium citrate62TPPSSACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal: freeEDTA30NaBH4SSACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal: freeEDTA10NaBH4SSACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal: freeEDTA10NaBH4SSACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal: freeEDTA100NaBH4SSACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA100NaBH4SSACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA100NaBH4SSACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA100NaBH4SSACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA100NaBH4SSACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA100TCEPTCACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA200DTTTCACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA240TBPTCACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA240TBPTCACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA50TCEPTCACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA50TCBTCACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA240TBPTCACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA502.4MEUFCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA502.4MEUF </td <td>Thiols measuredThiol form measuredAnti-coagulantSample volume (\muL)Reducing agentProt precipDerivatizing agentCys. Hcys. GSHTotalTotalSodium citrate62TPPSSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:FreeEDTA10NaBH4SSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA10NaBH4SSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA10NaBH4SSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA100NaBH4SSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100NaBH4SSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100NaBH4SSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100NaBH4SSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA100TCEPTCASBD-FCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA200DTTTCASBD-FCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA240TBPTCASBD-FCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA240TBPTCASBD-FCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA240TBPTCASBD-FCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA240TBPTCASBD-FCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA240</td> <td>Thiols measuredThiol form measuredAnti-coagulantSample volume (µL)Reducing agentPriot precipDerivatizing agentThiol standard formCys. Hcys. GSHTotalEDTASodium citrate62TPPSSAmBrBDisulfide (Hcys. GSH)Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA10NaBH4SCAmBrBDisulfide (Hcys. GSH)Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA10NaBH4SCAmBrBDisulfide (Hcys. GSH)Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100NaBH4SCAmBrBDisulfide (Hcys. GN)Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100NaBH4SCAmBrBReducedCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100NaBH4SCAmBrBReducedCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100NaBH4SCAmBrBReducedCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100TCEPTCASBD-FReducedCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA200TTCTCASBD-FReducedCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA240TBPPCASBD-FNaBH4NCACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA200TCFTCASBD-FNaBH4Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA200TCFTCASBD-FNaBH4Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA200TCFTCA&lt;</td> <td>Thiols measuredThiol form measuredAnti-coagulantSample volume (µL)Reducing agentProt precipDerivatizing agentThiol standard formCalibrator matrixCys. Hcys. Cys. Cys. Cys. Cys. Cys. Cys. Cys. C</td>	Thiols measuredThiol form measuredAnti-coagulantSample volume (\muL)Reducing agentProt precipDerivatizing agentCys. Hcys. GSHTotalTotalSodium citrate62TPPSSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:FreeEDTA10NaBH4SSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA10NaBH4SSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA10NaBH4SSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA100NaBH4SSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100NaBH4SSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100NaBH4SSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100NaBH4SSAmBrBCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA100TCEPTCASBD-FCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA200DTTTCASBD-FCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotalEDTA240TBPTCASBD-FCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA240TBPTCASBD-FCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA240TBPTCASBD-FCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA240TBPTCASBD-FCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA240	Thiols measuredThiol form measuredAnti-coagulantSample volume (µL)Reducing agentPriot precipDerivatizing agentThiol standard formCys. Hcys. GSHTotalEDTASodium citrate62TPPSSAmBrBDisulfide (Hcys. GSH)Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA10NaBH4SCAmBrBDisulfide (Hcys. GSH)Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA10NaBH4SCAmBrBDisulfide (Hcys. GSH)Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100NaBH4SCAmBrBDisulfide (Hcys. GN)Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100NaBH4SCAmBrBReducedCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100NaBH4SCAmBrBReducedCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100NaBH4SCAmBrBReducedCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA100TCEPTCASBD-FReducedCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA200TTCTCASBD-FReducedCys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:EDTA240TBPPCASBD-FNaBH4NCACys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA200TCFTCASBD-FNaBH4Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA200TCFTCASBD-FNaBH4Cys. Hcys. GSH, CysGlyTotal:Free:EDTA200TCFTCA<	Thiols measuredThiol form measuredAnti-coagulantSample volume (µL)Reducing agentProt precipDerivatizing agentThiol standard formCalibrator matrixCys. Hcys. Cys. Cys. Cys. Cys. Cys. Cys. Cys. C

Operating conditions of selected methods for simultaneous determination of aminothiols.

UF, ultrafitration; mBrB, monobrombimane; SBD-F, ammonium-7-fluorobenzo-2-oxa-1,3-diazole-4-sulfonic acid; OPA, o-phthaldialdehyde.

acid; l

Table 3
Effect of freeze-thaw on aminothiol concentrations in human plasma from healthy subjects.

Analyte (µM)	Control	FT1	%Δ	FT2	%Δ	3 h ice	%Δ
CYS	$281.3\pm34.4$	$281.2\pm35.3$	$0.0\pm2.2$	$283.0\pm35.5$	$0.6\pm2.6$	$279.6\pm33.5$	$-0.5 \pm 2.1$
Hcys	$8.6\pm2.6$	$8.5\pm2.5$	$0.0\pm2.3$	$8.6\pm2.6$	$0.7\pm2.7$	$8.5\pm2.5$	$-0.3\pm2.3$
GSH	$6.6\pm1.5$	$6.1 \pm 1.5^{a}$	$-7.0\pm4.9$	$5.8 \pm 1.5^{a}$	$-11.3 \pm 4.1$	$6.5\pm1.6$	$-0.3\pm12.1$
CysGly	$31.7\pm5.6$	$32.2\pm5.7^{a}$	$1.7\pm2.2$	$32.8\pm5.8^{\text{a}}$	$3.6\pm2.8$	$31.8\pm5.6$	$0.3\pm2.7$

CYS, cysteine; Hcys, homocysteine; GSH, glutathione; CysGly, cysteinylglycine; FT1, one freeze-thaw cycle; FT2, two freeze-thaw cycle;  $\%\Delta$ , percentage change versus control. Note that the headings represent conditions prior to sample preparation/derivatization. Control samples were centrifuged and frozen at -70 °C within 1 h of blood draw, then thawed on a later date for experimentation. 3 h ice samples were stored as whole blood for 3 h on ice water prior to centrifugation and freezing, and then thawed on a later date for experimentation. FT1 and FT2 samples were centrifuged and frozen within 1 h of blood draw, then subjected to 1 or 2 freeze-thaw cycles, each of which consisted of freezing at -70 °C for 3 h following by thawing at room temperature for 30 min prior to experimentation. Concentrations determined via method of Nolin et al. [31]. Comparisons made by the two-sided paired Student's *t*-test. Data expressed as mean ± SD.

<sup>a</sup> *P*<0.01 vs. control.

tematic variation in procedure may influence the results and, consequently, study outcome. Although these recommendations pertain to total homocysteine measurement, the benefits of a standardized protocol apply to measurement of all aminothiols.

Following sample collection, whole blood tubes must be placed immediately in ice water and centrifuged as soon as possible. Cooling whole blood slows down or inhibits homocysteine export by red blood cells and enzyme activity that may cause interconversion of aminothiols (i.e., break down of GSH to CysGly through the activity of gamma-glutamyl transferase). Total concentrations of homocysteine, cysteine, CysGly and glutathione are constant in whole blood kept on ice water for up to 3 h [46,52]. Plasma obtained from centrifugation should remain cooled during aliquotting then frozen immediately.

#### 2.3. Sample stability

Once frozen at -70 °C, total aminothiol concentrations are constant for several years until sample preparation and analysis can be performed [46,52]. Total plasma homocysteine and cysteine concentrations are constant during repeated freeze-thaw cycles [52]. However, significant changes in total plasma Cys-Gly and glutathione concentrations have been observed following freeze-thaw. In a recent comparison of paired samples (*N*=19) undergoing one versus two freeze thaw cycles, we found that total CysGly concentrations increased 1.7% (*P*<0.01) and 3.6% (*P*<0.01), respectively, and total GSH concentrations decreased 7.0% (*P*<0.01) and 11.3% (*P*<0.01), respectively (previously unpublished, Table 3).

#### 2.4. Plasma or serum and choice of anticoagulant

Significant differences in homocysteine concentrations between plasma and serum have been reported [52,57]. We found significant differences in measured concentrations of CYS, Hcys, CysGly,

Table 4

Comparison of aminothiol	concentrations in huma	in plasma versus serum.
--------------------------	------------------------	-------------------------

Analyte (µM)	Healthy subje	ects	ESRD subjects	ESRD subjects		
	Plasma	Serum	Plasma	Serum		
CYS	$217\pm41$	$229\pm44^a$	$369\pm58$	$384\pm 60^a$		
Hcys	$6.8\pm2.4$	$7.4 \pm 2.5^{a}$	$19.0\pm3.1$	$20.4\pm3.2^{\text{a}}$		
GSH	$5.4 \pm 1.0$	$5.8 \pm 1.0^{b}$	$4.9\pm0.8$	$5.3\pm1.4$		
CysGly	$26.7\pm4.4$	$28.3\pm4.0^a$	$41.0\pm13.3$	$44.8 \pm 14.1^{a}$		

CYS, cysteine; Hcys, homocysteine; GSH, glutathione; CysGly, cysteinylglycine; ESRD, end-stage renal disease. Concentrations determined via method of Nolin et al. [31]. Comparisons made by the two-sided paired Student's *t*-test. Data expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD.

<sup>a</sup> P<0.001 vs. plasma.

<sup>b</sup> P<0.02 vs. plasma.

and GSH in serum versus EDTA-plasma samples obtained from healthy subjects and from subjects with end stage renal disease (previously unpublished, Table 4). Whole blood must be placed on ice water immediately following sample collection to minimize interconversion of aminothiols and thus preserve individual aminothiol concentrations. This makes it logistically difficult to measure aminothiols in serum since it must remain at room temperature to allow clotting. Therefore, it is recommended that aminothiols be measured in plasma [54]. As depicted in Table 2, although heparin- and citrate-plasma have been utilized [35,36], EDTA-plasma is more commonly used and is the preferred anticoagulant to prevent metal catalyzed reactions and cell activation in studies investigating oxidative stress.

#### 3. HPLC analysis

#### 3.1. Reduction

Sample preparation involves reduction of disulfides, precipitation of proteins and derivatization of available thiols. Complete reduction of disulfide bonds prior to derivatization is critical to accurate quantification of total aminothiols. Adding a reducing agent to plasma samples releases protein-bound aminothiols and reduces free disulfides. Several reducing agents have been used (Table 2), including sodium borohydride [33,34,36], dithiothreitol (DTT) [58], tributylphosphine (TBP) [15,26,38,57], and tris-(2carboxyethyl) phosphine (TCEP) [31,40,59].

DTT and sodium borohydride are problematic because they are reactive with thiol-specific fluorogenic reagents. During derivatization, the labeling reagent is consumed and a background fluorescent product is generated. Upon chromatographic separation, this background peak can obscure the detection of aminothiol adducts. Although steps may be taken to remove excess reducing agent prior to derivatization (e.g., solid phase extraction), there is a risk of reoxidation of aminothiols, likely creating a large source of error.

Trialkylphosphines TBP and TCEP are powerful reductants, which stoichiometrically and irreversibly reduce disulfides and need to be present in only slight molar excess for complete reduction of disulfides. They are non-reactive toward many other functional groups and do not interfere with subsequent derivatization. TBP has a highly disagreeable odor and is poorly soluble in water, so it must be dissolved in dimethylformamide for use. TCEP is non-volatile, stable and water-soluble, making it easy to use and equally efficient in plasma or aqueous solutions, so it has emerged as a preferred reductant [40,59]. In a comparison of methods using TCEP versus TBP as a reducing agent, Krijt et al showed TCEP is less sensitive to temperature and calibrator matrix [40]. Therefore, when using TCEP as the reducing agent, calibration standards may be prepared in either plasma or PBS. EDTA is added to all solutions used in analytical sample preparation to prevent re-oxidation. Immediately following reduction, proteins are removed by ultrafiltration [27] or acid precipitation with trichloroacetic acid, perchloric acid, or sulfosalicylic acid. Rizzo et al tested these deproteinizing agents and found that trichloroacetic acid improved assay sensitivity and precision [58]. Perchloric acid and sulfosalicylic acid were not appropriate for detecting low concentrations of aminothiols [58]. Alternatively, Durand et al described compounds of interest eluting as doublet peaks as a result of using trichloroacetic acid and avoided this problem by using perchloric acid [38]. Samples are then centrifuged to obtain protein-free supernatant ready for derivatization.

#### 3.2. Derivatization reagents

Fluorogenic reagents used to detect aminothiols in plasma include monobromobimane (mBrB) [32–36,39], *o*-phthaldialdehyde (OPA) [27,28], dansyl chloride [29,30], and ammonium 7-fluorobenzo-2-oxa-1,3-diazole-4-sulfonate (SBD-F) [15,26,31,37,38,40]. Monobromobimane reacts rapidly, but not specifically, with thiols at pH 8.0 at room temperature. Derivatization and chromatographic conditions have been repeatedly improved to obtain satisfactory separation between aminothiols of interest and interfering peaks [60].

OPA also has the advantage of a short derivatization time at room temperature. OPA reacts with all primary amino groups in the presence of a thiol to produce a fluorescent isoindole. However, current methods for simultaneous measurement of multiple aminothiols with OPA involve alkylation of free thiols with iodoacetate and addition of 2-mercaptoethanol as a reducing agent and source of thiols for derivatization. Although this method allows detection of other amino acids in addition to thiol-containing amino acids, complex chromatography is required to separate aminothiols from other derivatized amino acids. Dansyl chloride may be used to determine redox forms of aminothiols in one sample, rather than depending on two or more analyses [29,30]; however, this method is not useful for measuring total aminothiol concentrations.

SBD-F exhibits excellent sensitivity and specificity towards sulfhydryl groups and is the most popular derivatizing agent. SBD-F and its hydrolysis products are non-fluorescent, resulting in chromatograms with well-resolved aminothiol peaks and no interfering reagent peaks. The drawbacks of using SBD-F are a long derivati-



**Fig. 2.** Representative chromatogram of aminothiol standard solution containing 25.0  $\mu$ M CYS, 3.13  $\mu$ M Hcys, 6.25  $\mu$ M CysGly, and 1.56  $\mu$ M GSH. Each thiol compound was derivatized with SBD-F (1 h at 60 °C as reported previously [31]) and separated on a Waters Symmetry C<sub>18</sub> column (4.6 mm × 150 mm; 5  $\mu$ m particles) at 29 °C with two mobile phases, A: 0.1 M acetate buffer (pH 4.5)-methanol [97:3] and B: methanol. SBD-adducts were separated over 8 min with 100% A at a flow rate of 0.8 mL/min, followed by 80%:20% A:B (changed linearly over 1 min) at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min for 6 min. Peaks: 1, CYS; 2, Hcys; 3, CysGly; 4, GSH; IS, 2-mercaptopropionylglycine.

zation time and elevated temperature requirements (1 h at  $60 \circ C$ ). Thiol–SBD-adducts are stable for at least 8 h when protected from light [61]. With the use of an internal standard, we have shown that loss of fluorescence does not affect calculated results for up to 18 h [31].



**Fig. 3.** Representative chromatograms of total aminothiols in plasma samples obtained from (A) a healthy subject, (B) a patient with chronic kidney disease, and (C) a healthy subject immediately prior to administration of the last dose of *N*-acetylcysteine 600 mg administered orally twice daily for 14 days. All samples were prepared and derivatized according to Nolin et al. [31]. In (A) and (B) SBD-adducts were separated as described in Fig. 2. For (C), chromatographic conditions were optimized to measure NAC on a Waters Symmetry C<sub>18</sub> column (4.6 mm × 150 mm; 5 μm particles) at 29 °C with two mobile phases, A: 0.1 M acetate buffer (pH 4.0)–methanol [98:2] and B: methanol. SBD-adducts were separated over 7 min with 100% A at a flow rate of 1.0 mL/min, followed by 80%:20% A:B (changed linearly over 1 min) for 7 min. Peaks: 1, CYS; 2, Hcys; 3, CysGly; 4, GSH; 5, NAC; IS, 2-mercaptoproprionylglycine.

#### Table 5

Performance characteristics of selected methods for simultaneous determination of aminothiols.

Author	Thiol	Linear range <sup>a</sup> ( $\mu M$ )	Intra-assay CV (%)	Inter-assay CV (%)	LOD
Ivanov et al. [39]	Cys	0.5-750	4.73	<4.91	>2 pmol
	HCys CSH	0.5-500	4.59	<4.91	>2 pmol
	GSII	0.5-500	4.01	\$4.91	~2 pinor
Fiskerstrand et al. [36]	Cys	0.5-1000	2.2	2.3	NR
	Hcys	0.5-1000	2.6	2.2	NR
	CysGly	0.5-1000	1.9	1.8	NR
Pastore et al. [34]	Cys	1.5-300	3.4	4	50 nM
	Hcys	0.625-100	2.4	4.9	50 nM
	GSH	0.625-100	2.8	6.1	50 nM
	CysGly	0.626-100	1.9	3.8	50 nM
Williams et al [35]	Cvs	1-1000	NR	NR	NR
	Hevs	0.5-250	NR	NR	NR
	CSH	0.5-200	NR	NR	NR
	CysGly	1-200	NR	NR	NR
Jacobson et al. [22]	C	0,402	2.25	2	10 am al
Jacobsell et al. [33]	Cys	0-492	2.35	3	10 pinoi
Mancoor et al. [22]	HCVS	0-200	3.31	4.85	4 pilloi 10 mm al
	CysGly	0-123	3.90	7.46	io pinoi
Mansoor et al. [32]	Cys	6.25-200	7.2	NR	>2 pmol
	Hcys	0.31-10	6.6	NR	>2 pmol
	GSH	0.31-10	7.1	NR	>2 pmol
	CysGly	0.78–25	7.8	NR	>2 pmol
Krijt et al. [40]	Cys	0-400	2.3	3.9	NR
	Hcys	0–150	1.9	3.8	NR
	GSH	0-50	1.9	13	NR
	CysGly	0-150	1.2	3.2	NR
Rizzo et al [58]	Cvs	0.01-300	0.27	6.25	77.6 pmol
	Hevs	0.01-300	0.98	3.2	16.8 pmol
	CysGly	0.01-300	0.41	8	13.3 pmol
Dfaiffar at al. [27]	C	ND	11 10	2.4	ND
Pleiller et al. [37]	Cys	NK 0. 200	1.1-1.8	2.4	
	HCys	0-200	1.1-1.8	5.0	0.16 µM
Durand et al. [38]	Cys	100-400	1.8	4	NR
	Hcys	10-40	2.31	2.81	NR
	GSH	10-40	NR	5.65	NR
	CysGly	20-80	1.88	3.22	NR
Nolin et al. [31]	Cys	25-800	2.5	5.1	NR
	Hcys	3.13-100	2	5.5	NR
	GSH	1.56–50	2.6	3.9	NR
	CysGly	6.25–200	1.9	4	NR
Carducci et al. [27]	Cys	4-1000	3.6	3.8	2.4 pmol
	Hcys	0.4-150	3.8	4.2	0.8 pmol
Tabarlas et al. (201	Gun	2.250 mm -1	ND	ND	0.5
icherkas et al. [28]	Cys	3–250 pmol	INK		0.5 pmol
	HCYS	3–250 pmol	NK	0.1	0.8 pmol

<sup>a</sup> Concentrations µM unless otherwise specified. CV, coefficient of variation; LOD, limit of detection; NR, not reported.

#### 3.3. Internal standard

Sample reduction, protein precipitation and derivatization are sources of assay variability. The use of an internal standard, added at the beginning of sample preparation, can greatly improve assay performance. Although methods without an internal standard, and thus poorer precision, can certainly yield relevant results, their use may lead to low statistical power in clinical trials and to a severe underestimation of associations in epidemiological studies [62]. Addition of an internal standard also compensates for the matrix dependency of external calibration. Results calculated from standards prepared in plasma or aqueous media may be variable. Using an internal standard, Kuo et al demonstrated no differences in calibration slopes of aqueous or plasma based standards [26]. N-acetylcysteine (NAC) [38,61], cysteamine [26,37], and 2-mercaptopropionylglycine [31,57] have been used as internal standards. These compounds may be present endogenously and/or administered to research subjects as a therapeutic drug. If an endogenous compound is used as an internal standard, it should be added at a final concentration that is at least two orders of magnitude greater than endogenous concentrations to ensure assay precision is not compromised [63]. It can be a challenge to select an internal standard concentration that yields precise and accurate quantitation for multiple aminothiols with different concentration ranges. The method validation process should include tests representing the full range of expected concentrations for each aminothiol of interest.

#### 3.4. Chromatography

Fluorescent adducts of aminothiols are usually separated by reversed-phase chromatography with ion-pairing using either isocratic or gradient elution. Retention times of aminothiols are very sensitive to changes in mobile phase pH. Excellent resolution of SBD-adducts of CYS, Hcys, CysGly and GSH using an acetate buffer of pH 4.5 has been achieved (Fig. 2) [31]. Sufficient separation of aminothiols in standard solutions does not guarantee that these compounds can be measured free from interference in biological samples. Moreover, in plasma, interfering endogenous compounds may differ between patient groups. It is important to test chromatographic conditions with samples from each subject group to be studied to ensure there are no compounds co-eluting with aminothiols of interest. For example, in studies examining oxidative stress where subjects may be receiving thiol-antioxidant therapy like NAC, chromatographic conditions may need to be optimized to prevent NAC interference (Fig. 3). The operating conditions of selected HPLC-FD methods are presented in Table 2.

#### 4. Method evaluation

Although much effort is spent in developing methods to measure aminothiol concentrations, very few methods have been fully validated for determination of more than two aminothiols simultaneously [31,34,38]. Optimizing these assays for simultaneous determination of multiple analytes requires significant effort to ensure they are validated. Numerous excellent reviews of assay development and validation procedures have been published previously [64-66]. The performance characteristics of selected HPLC-FD methods capable of simultaneously determining multiple aminothiols in plasma are depicted in Table 5. Briefly, particular attention must be given to assay calibration, linearity, limits of detection and quantitation, accuracy, precision, sample stability, carryover, and recovery. A detailed discussion of these is beyond the scope if this review, but each has been presented in detail previously as they pertain to the validation of a method for the simultaneous determination of total Hcys, CYS, CysGly and GSH via HPLC with fluorescence detection [31]. There is also a need for chemicals of highest purity for use in preparation of calibrators and QC samples for use in method validation. Calibration of aminothiol assays has relied heavily on the use of commercial aminothiols of varying purity as primary calibrators. In the preparation of standards, the disulfide form of aminothiols has been used because it is often available commercially at a high purity, and a large portion of aminothiols are present in plasma as disulfides. However, disulfide aminothiols have low aqueous solubility, making it difficult to prepare concentrated stock solutions, and some aminothiols, including most potential internal standards, are not available commercially in disulfide form. With each laboratory using their own calibration material, comparison between studies can be difficult. Several of the methods discussed and referenced here have been used in interlaboratory studies to compare plasma total homocysteine measurements [67,68]. A common conclusion from these studies is variability could be greatly reduced by the use of standard reference material. In response, Standard Reference Material 1955 for homocysteine and folate was developed and characterized [69]. For the time being however, similar reference material for the analysis of other aminothiols is not available.

#### 5. Concluding remarks

The role of homocysteine and other aminothiols in health and disease is widely studied. The need for studies measuring homocysteine in conjunction with other metabolites, including CYS and GSH, has been reinforced by inconsistent results from interventional studies aimed at reducing homocysteine concentrations [16], and illustrates the need for accurate, precise, robust, validated aminothiol assays. Numerous methods for measurement of aminothiols have been developed, most of which are based on HPLC with fluorescence detection. This analytical approach exhibits high sensitivity and precision and is well suited for high-throughput quantitative determination of multiple aminothiols for research purposes and for routine clinical use. The ideal method for measurement of aminothiols would have a fast and simple preparation protocol that could be performed at room temperature, using an efficient reducing agent and a selective fluorescent probe. Fluorescent adducts would be separated by robust chromatography, using isocratic conditions to elute well-separated peaks. This method would include an internal standard to enhance assay performance, and provide quantitative results using calibrators made from certified reference material. For a complete aminothiol profile, this method would measure total concentrations of aminothiols, and with some modification could separately measure redox forms (i.e., oxidized and reduced forms). Currently, no published method meets all of these criteria. Based on Table 2, only methods using SBD-F as a derivatizing agent have incorporated an internal standard; therefore, we prefer these methods. Regardless of the method selected, careful consideration of pre-analytical factors, procedures for sample reduction, derivatization, chromatographic separation, and method validation is essential to ensure accurate and precise results.

#### References

- [1] D.M. Townsend, K.D. Tew, H. Tapiero, Biomed. Pharmacother. 58 (2004) 47.
- [2] B. Fowler, Semin. Vasc. Med. 5 (2005) 77.
- [3] N.R. Madamanchi, A. Vendrov, M.S. Runge, Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 25 (2005) 29.
- [4] D.G. Hackam, S.S. Anand, JAMA 290 (2003) 932.
- [5] D. Di Giuseppe, S. Frosali, R. Priora, F.C. Di Simplicio, G. Buonocore, C. Cellesi, P.L. Capecchi, F.L. Pasini, P.E. Lazzerini, H. Jakubowski, P. Di Simplicio, J. Lab. Clin. Med. 144 (2004) 235.
- [6] J. Himmelfarb, R.M. Hakim, Curr. Opin. Nephrol. Hypertens. 12 (2003) 593.
- [7] T. Apeland, O. Kristensen, M.A. Mansoor, Scand. J. Clin. Lab. Invest. (2008) 1.
- [8] A.K. Elshorbagy, E. Nurk, C.G. Gjesdal, G.S. Tell, P.M. Ueland, O. Nygard, A. Tverdal, S.E. Vollset, H. Refsum, Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 88 (2008) 738.
- [9] S.J. James, P. Cutler, S. Melnyk, S. Jernigan, L. Janak, D.W. Gaylor, J.A. Neubrander, Am. I. Clin. Nutr. 80 (2004) 1611
- [10] A. McCaddon, P. Hudson, D. Hill, J. Barber, A. Lloyd, G. Davies, B. Regland, Biol. Psychiatry 53 (2003) 254.
- [11] S.J. Moat, J.R. Bonham, H.J. Powers, Clin. Sci. (Lond.) 100 (2001) 73.
- [12] L.R. Ranganath, M. Baines, N.B. Roberts, Clin. Sci. (Lond.) 100 (2001) 111.
- [13] S. Ashfaq, J.L. Abramson, D.P. Jones, S.D. Rhodes, W.S. Weintraub, W.C. Hooper, V. Vaccarino, R.W. Alexander, D.G. Harrison, A.A. Quyyumi, Hypertension 52 (2008) 80.
- [14] I. Himmelfarb, E. McMenamin, E. McMonagle, Kidney Int. 61 (2002) 705.
- [15] B. Sjoberg, B. Anderstam, M. Suliman, A. Alvestrand, Am. J. Kidney Dis. 47 (2006) 60
- [17] I. Himmelfarb, P. Stenvinkel, T.A. Ikizler, R.M. Hakim, Kidney Int, 62 (2002) 1524. [18] P. Lochman, T. Adam, D. Friedecky, E. Hlidkova, Z. Skopkova, Electrophoresis 24
- [19] C. Chassaing, J. Gonin, C.S. Wilcox, I.W. Wainer, J. Chromatogr. B 735 (1999) 219. [20] R.R. de la Flor St Remy, M. Montes-Bayon, A. Sanz-Medel, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 377 (2003) 299.
- 43
- (2006) 474.
- B 758 (2001) 207.
- 109.
- [25] K. Amarnath, V. Amarnath, K. Amarnath, H.L. Valentine, W.M. Valentine, Talanta 60 (2003) 1229.
- [26] K. Kuo, R. Still, S. Cale, I. McDowell, Clin. Chem. 43 (1997) 1653.
- [27] C. Carducci, M. Birarelli, M. Nola, I. Antonozzi, J. Chromatogr. A 846 (1999) 93.
- [28] Y.V. Tcherkas, A.D. Denisenko, J. Chromatogr. A 913 (2001) 309.
- [29] D.P. Jones, J.L. Carlson, V.C. Mody, J. Cai, M.J. Lynn, P. Sternberg, Free Radic. Biol. Med. 28 (2000) 625.
- [30] D.P. Jones, J.L. Carlson, P.S. Samiec, P. Sternberg Jr., V.C. Mody Jr., R.L. Reed, L.A. Brown, Clin. Chim. Acta 275 (1998) 175
- [31] T.D. Nolin, M.E. McMenamin, J. Himmelfarb, J Chromatogr. B 852 (2007) 554.
- M.A. Mansoor, A.M. Svardal, P.M. Ueland, Anal. Biochem. 200 (1992) 218.
- [33] D.W. Jacobsen, V.J. Gatautis, R. Green, K. Robinson, S.R. Savon, M. Secic, J. Ji, J.M. Otto, L.M. Taylor Jr., Clin. Chem. 40 (1994) 873.
- A. Pastore, R. Massoud, C. Motti, A. Lo Russo, G. Fucci, C. Cortese, G. Federici, [34] Clin. Chem. 44 (1998) 825.
- [35] R.H. Williams, J.A. Maggiore, R.D. Reynolds, C.M. Helgason, Clin. Chem. 47 (2001) 1031.
- [36] T. Fiskerstrand, H. Refsum, G. Kvalheim, P.M. Ueland, Clin. Chem. 39 (1993) 263.
- [37] C.M. Pfeiffer, D.L. Huff, E.W. Gunter, Clin. Chem. 45 (1999) 290.

[16] PM Ueland Clin Chem 54 (2008) 1085

- (2003) 1200.
- [21] J.M. Johnson, F.H. Strobel, M. Reed, J. Pohl, D.P. Jones, Clin. Chim. Acta 396 (2008)
- [22] G. Weaving, B.F. Rocks, S.A. Iversen, M.A. Titheradge, Ann. Clin. Biochem. 43
- [23] A.E. Katrusiak, P.G. Paterson, H. Kamencic, A. Shoker, A.W. Lyon, J. Chromatogr.
- [24] E. Bald, G. Chwatko, R. Glowacki, K. Kusmierek, J. Chromatogr. A 1032 (2004)

- [38] P. Durand, L.J. Fortin, S. Lussier-Cacan, J. Davignon, D. Blache, Clin. Chim. Acta 252 (1996) 83.
- [39] A.R. Ivanov, I.V. Nazimov, L. Baratova, A.P. Lobazov, G.B. Popkovich, J. Chromatogr. A 913 (2001) 315.
- [40] J. Krijt, M. Vackova, V. Kozich, Clin. Chem. 47 (2001) 1821.
- [41] P. Houze, S. Gamra, I. Madelaine, B. Bousquet, B. Gourmel, J. Clin. Lab. Anal. 15 (2001) 144.
- [42] S. Melnyk, M. Pogribna, I. Pogribny, R.J. Hine, S.J. James, J. Nutr. Biochem. 10 (1999) 490.
- [43] W.A. Kleinman, J.P. Richie Jr., Biochem. Pharmacol. 60 (2000) 19.
- [44] J. Petrlova, R. Mikelova, K. Stejskal, A. Kleckerova, O. Zitka, J. Petrek, L. Havel, J. Zehnalek, A. Vojtech, L. Trnkova, R. Kizek, J. Sep. Sci. 29 (2006) 1166.
- [45] E. Camera, M. Picardo, J. Chromatogr. B 781 (2002) 181.
- [46] V. Ducros, K. Demuth, M.P. Sauvant, M. Quillard, E. Causse, M. Candito, M.H. Read, J. Drai, I. Garcia, M.F. Gerhardt, J. Chromatogr. B 781 (2002) 207.
- [47] A. Pastore, G. Federici, E. Bertini, F. Piemonte, Clin. Chim. Acta 333 (2003) 19.
  [48] P.M. Ueland, Clin. Chem. 41 (1995) 340.
- [48] F.M. Oeland, Chil. Chem. 41 (1995) 540. [49] E.B. Stamm, R.D. Reynolds, J. Nutr. 129 (1999) 1927.
- [50] P.M. Ueland, M.A. Mansoor, A.B. Guttormsen, F. Muller, P. Aukrust, H. Refsum, A.M. Svardal, J. Nutr. 126 (1996) 1281S.
- [51] A. Andersson, A. Lindgren, B. Hultberg, Clin. Chem. 41 (1995) 361.
- [52] P.M. Ueland, H. Refsum, S.P. Stabler, M.R. Malinow, A. Andersson, R.H. Allen, Clin. Chem. 39 (1993) 1764.
- [53] J.B. Ubbink, W.J. Vermaak, A. van der Merwe, P.J. Becker, Clin. Chim. Acta 207 (1992) 119.
- [54] K. Rasmussen, J. Moller, Ann. Clin. Biochem. 37 (Pt 5) (2000) 627.

- [55] K. Rasmussen, J. Moller, M. Lyngbak, Clin. Chem. 45 (1999) 1850.
- [56] H. Refsum, A.D. Smith, P.M. Ueland, E. Nexo, R. Clarke, J. McPartlin, C. Johnston, F. Engbaek, J. Schneede, C. McPartlin, J.M. Scott, Clin. Chem. 50 (2004) 3.
- [57] B. Vester, K. Rasmussen, Eur. J. Clin. Chem. Clin. Biochem. 29 (1991) 549.
- [58] V. Rizzo, L. Montalbetti, M. Valli, T. Bosoni, E. Scoglio, R. Moratti, J. Chromatogr. B 706 (1998) 209.
- [59] M.T. Anderson, J.R. Trudell, D.W. Voehringer, I.M. Tjioe, L.A. Herzenberg, LA. Herzenberg, Anal. Biochem. 272 (1999) 107.
- [60] J.B. Ubbink, Semin. Thromb. Hemost. 26 (2000) 233.
- [61] N.P. Dudman, X.W. Guo, R. Crooks, L. Xie, J.S. Silberberg, Clin. Chem. 42 (1996) 2028.
- [62] T. Teerlink, J. Chromatogr. B 851 (2007) 21.
- [63] T. Teerlink, R.J. Nijveldt, S. de Jong, P.A. van Leeuwen, Anal. Biochem. 303 (2002) 131.
- [64] C. Hartmann, J. Smeyers-Verbeke, D.L. Massart, R.D. McDowall, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 17 (1998) 193.
- [65] H.T. Karnes, G. Shiu, V.P. Shah, Pharm. Res. 8 (1991) 421.
- [66] A.R. Buick, M.V. Doig, S.C. Jeal, G.S. Land, R.D. McDowall, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 8 (1990) 629.
- [67] C.M. Pfeiffer, D.L. Huff, S.J. Smith, D.T. Miller, E.W. Gunter, Clin. Chem. 45 (1999) 1261.
- [68] N.Q. Hanson, J.H. Eckfeldt, K. Schwichtenberg, O. Aras, M.Y. Tsai, Clin. Chem. 48 (2002) 1539.
- [69] M.B. Satterfield, L.T. Sniegoski, K.E. Sharpless, M.J. Welch, A. Hornikova, N.F. Zhang, C.M. Pfeiffer, Z. Fazili, M. Zhang, B.C. Nelson, Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 385 (2006) 612.